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So it was that the war in the air began. Men rode upon the whirlwind that night and slew and fell like archangels. The sky rained heroes upon the astonished earth. Surely the last fights of mankind were the best. What was the heavy pounding of your Homeric swordsmen, what was the creaking charge of chariots, besides this swift rush, this crash, this giddy triumph, this headlong sweep to death?

— H.G. Wells, The World Set Free, 1914








INTRODUCTION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

THE GENESIS OF THIS BOOK stretches back some 40 years when I was both a senior flight steward and sole editor of the Qantas cabin crew magazine Transit. One of my editorial initiatives was to put together a series of interview articles with a number of leading personalities from Australia’s aviation past. I was joined in the effort by fellow senior steward Syd Cauveren and we each contributed articles based on those personal interviews.

All but one of the articles I decided upon and wrote at the time are contained in this book, albeit expanded and updated from their original appearance back in the early ’80s. In fact two of my interview articles featuring the Australians who flew in the famed Dambusters Squadron were similarly expanded and combined decades later and became my book Australia’s Dambusters: Flying Into Hell with 617 Squadron, published by Simon & Schuster Australia in 2021. Thus a precedent was set for this new book.

The final chapter came about by chance when I was conducting some more recent research into the life of one of the subjects of this book, Joe Herman. One of his antecedents had the Germanic surname Zupp, and through this I came across the extraordinary story of RAAF Meteor pilot Phillip Zupp, who served in two wars in very different ways and was the first Australian ever to be recommended for the Purple Heart – an American award for those wounded in combat conditions. I managed to contact Phillip’s son Owen, who is continuing a family tradition as a Qantas captain, and with his permission and assistance put together his father’s remarkable story. Thus there are amazing tales of heroic circumstances and survival from an eclectic group of Australian pilots from the First World War right through to the Korean War.

The inexorable passage of time means that none of the seven aviators whose exploits are covered in this book are still with us, but nevertheless I feel fortunate and indeed privileged to have been able to revisit those precious interviews in Australia and overseas. I therefore offer a belated thanks to them and others who assisted with information back then. If any relatives happen to read this book, I trust they will reflect on the pride this nation had, and should have, for these remarkable Australians.

Many thanks are due to some people who responded and assisted when I set about refreshing and updating the biographical material on these Australian airmen, so much appreciation goes to Owen Zupp, Clive Baker of the Sutherland Shire Military History Club, Ron Cuskelly of the Queensland Aviation Museum, and Margaret Cooper.

I would also like to acknowledge one of the finest resources available to researchers: the amazing Trove (trove.nla.gov.au), which gave me free access to contemporary newspaper reports in order to add valuable anecdotal material to these (and other) stories. As I have often found, researching a new book usually involves a great deal of patience and careful checking of facts from decades past – many of which have frustratingly become lost over the years – and the Trove innovation has proved to be a great friend to me and undoubtedly countless other authors, historians and researchers.

Thanks also to the amazing team of people at Simon & Schuster (Sydney), who have been of considerable help and support over recent years. They have given some of my earlier military books a brilliant new lease on life, as well as encouraging new manuscripts. Thank you once again Michelle Swainson (Managing and Commissioning Editor), and Rosie Outred (Editor). As always, you have made the entire process of writing and publishing a truly rewarding experience. I recall that delightful line in the film As Good As It Gets, when Jack Nicholson’s character says to Helen Hunt, ‘You make me want to be a better man.’ I am going to steal that sentiment and say that working with you and your team always makes me want to be a better writer. So thank you sincerely for your support, assistance and guidance over the years.

My thanks do not end there; I must also praise the wonderful work of Luke Causby, whose cover art has graced all of my books with Simon & Schuster. A great cover is an important key to book sales, and Luke always seems to nail it, as he has once again. A book might be written by one person, but it is brought to life by a host of other people working quietly behind the scenes. They lend their expertise, experience and skills to every project, and in my opinion the good folks at Simon & Schuster are second to none.

— Colin Burgess, New South Wales, Australia







FOREWORD

HAVING HAD AN AVID INTEREST in aircraft as a boy and later lived all my adult life with an active and interesting involvement in military aviation in Australia, I have nothing but the deepest respect and admiration for the seven gallant men whose stories and accomplishments have been so vividly told in this superb book.

Undoubtedly, Australia has a rich and proud aviation heritage dating back to such inspirational pioneers as Lawrence Hargrave. In November 1894, and almost a decade before the Wright Brothers made the world’s first powered flight, Hargrave lifted off in his self-made box kite at Stanwell Park, south of Sydney, and flew for a then remarkable 16 feet (4.8 m). We also recognise that what is claimed to be the first powered flight in Australia was accomplished by the Hungarian-American escapologist Harry Houdini in his Voisin biplane at Diggers Rest, Victoria, on 18 March 1910. That same year, John Duigan made the first flight in an Australian-built aircraft at Mia Mia, Victoria.

Many pioneering flights were to follow, but then war intervened. Hundreds of thousands of young Australians signed up with the Australian Imperial Force (AIF) and were deployed overseas to fight against an enemy in a war about which they knew very little. The story of one such soldier, Ernie Guest, is told through an interview the author Colin Burgess conducted with him back in the early 1980s. Ernie looked up from the trenches on the Gallipoli peninsula and watched enthralled as an airplane flew unimpeded overhead. He decided then and there that he wanted to be a pilot.

Several of our most famous pioneering aviators also began their service with the AIF before transferring to either the Royal Flying Corps (RFC) or the Australian Flying Corps (AFC). These included names such as Charles Kingsford Smith, Ross Smith, Hudson Fysh and Paul McGinness, all of whom would later become famous in Australian aviation history.

One of few worthwhile things that came out of the First World War was the interest in engineering and aircraft. Those Australians who had served in the air were keen to continue utilising their flying skills after they returned home. With imported aircraft they became involved in operating charter, demonstration and joy flights. Over the next couple of decades many sought to establish air routes in fledgling airlines and also the Flying Doctor in the late ’20s, all the while trying to overcome what has become known as the ‘tyranny of distance’ across our vast, sparsely populated country.

In December 1919, Captain Ross Smith and crew became the first Australian airmen to complete a flight from England to Australia – the longest distance ever flown at the time – achieving national and international recognition. The airline that we know as Qantas was registered in Brisbane in 1920 by two former AFC pilots, Wilmot Hudson Fysh and Paul McGinness. Then, in February 1928, Bundaberg-born Bert Hinkler completed the very first solo flight between England and Australia; four months later Charles Kingsford Smith and Charles Ulm, along with two American crewmen, became the first to cross the Pacific Ocean by air in their Southern Cross.

War would be declared once again in 1939, bringing forth yet another crop of bold and brave Australian pilots. The very different stories of three men who took to the skies during the Second World War are brought to life within these pages. There is the extraordinarily tenacious Air Vice Marshal Don Bennett from Toowoomba, Queensland, who had not only created aviation records pre-war, but devised and commanded the famed Pathfinder Force in the RAF’s mighty Bomber Command, the PFF being one of the most influential and successful wartime forces. I am proud to say that I am Patron of the Pathfinders Association in Australia – and support the legacy of this great aviation legend.

Clive ‘Killer’ Caldwell, although his wartime career ended in an undeserved controversy, achieved lasting renown as our country’s highest-scoring ace in the Second World War. Then there is the incredible story of Joe Herman who, as the RAAF pilot of a Halifax on a bombing raid over France, was literally blown out of his aircraft after being hit by ground fire, only to discover he was not wearing his parachute. How he managed to live through this harrowing experience is a classic and compelling story of survival against the odds.

Finally, but certainly not least, is the story of Queenslander Phillip Zupp, who not only served his nation in the Second World War as a commando against the Japanese in the jungles of New Guinea, but later fulfilled a boyhood dream by learning to fly. He then served Australia once again with distinction as a Meteor pilot in the Korean War with 77SQN, flying some 201 sorties before war’s end. I also had an active but far less dramatic involvement with this squadron and I was well aware of his courage in attempting to save a fellow Meteor pilot and being wounded in the process, earning him the American Purple Heart – being the first Australian to be so honoured.

The seven stories in this book are those of some exemplary Australians, whose service and exploits are representative of the many thousands of courageous airmen (and sometimes women) who took to the skies in times of war. Many lived to share their experiences, far too many did not. But to me they all stand tall in the service of their country, with courage, perseverance and a strong sense of duty. I am proud of them all and commend Colin Burgess for presenting their stories in an easy and readable manner.

— Air Vice Marshal David N. Rogers AM, RAAF (Retd)



Author’s note: Air Vice Marshal David Rogers was born 1943 in the Sydney suburb of Bexley. As a Cadet Under Officer in the Air Training Corps he won a flying scholarship, achieved his Private Pilot Licence at the age of 16 and joined the RAAF in 1962, subsequently training as a fighter pilot. He later saw active service in Malaysia, Singapore and Borneo, flying operational sorties in Sabre jets in 77SQN during the Indonesian Confrontation (1963–66). He also did four tours with 79SQN in Ubon, Thailand. Later he became an instructor on Vampires in Perth and was in the first contingent selected to fly the General Dynamics F-111 combat aircraft in the USA in 1968. In 1970 he trained on the F-4E Phantom and flew the delivery flight from St Louis in the USA to Amberley and in the RAAF Diamond Jubilee airshows in 1971. He held commands of both Nos 1 and 6 Squadrons. In 1978 he and his navigator ejected from an F-111 after it caught fire near Auckland in New Zealand. He was appointed as a Member of the Order of Australia in 1986. He has held senior appointments as F/A-18 Project Manager in Washington, Commander Strike Reconnaissance Group and Deputy Chief of the RAAF. His final appointment before retiring in 1998 was Assistant Chief of the Defence Force (Development).







1 AUSTRALIA’S FLYING PICTURE SHOW MAN Captain John Henry Arthur (Jack) Treacy


IT WAS IN MAY 1982 that I first contacted 86-year-old Jack Treacy at his coastal retreat home in Yamba, New South Wales. Unfortunately, despite my enthusiasm it was a case of bad timing; on 2 April his beloved wife of 62 years, Eva, had passed away, leaving him a disconsolate man facing the prospect of spending the rest of his life without his wife by his side. Eva had shared the compelling, pioneering days of Australian aviation with her intrepid pilot husband. Without her loving support and encouragement our winged heritage might not have been so enriched by his presence and legacy.

Captain Jack Treacy was an eager and dedicated participant in the development and growth of Australia’s aviation industry and was justly proud to have been involved in so many extraordinary ways. However, his remarkable story extends back to the days of deadly aerial combat in the First World War, when he not only encountered legendary German air ace Manfred von Richthofen, but almost joined the infamous Red Baron in his grave.



John Henry Arthur Treacy was born on 13 July 1895. The son of James, a miner, and Sarah Anne (née Wood) Treacy, he was the oldest of five children. Back then, the family was living in Grahamstown, 12 kilometres north of the former gold-mining town of Adelong, in the Riverina area of New South Wales. His mother was a seamstress who had resided in Grahamstown village all her life.

Young Jack took his early education at the Adelong Superior Public School, and when he was old enough to leave school he took his father’s counsel and chose engineering as his future trade. He was apprenticed to a company in Sydney, but on 4 August 1914, soon after he had completed his apprenticeship, war broke out in Europe. News of the declaration of war came through while Australian Prime Minister Joseph Cook and opposition leader Andrew Fisher were engaged in an election campaign. Both pledged full support for Britain, and Australia was also declared to be at war with Germany. Now aged 19, Jack Treacy enlisted straight away and, with his limited engineering background was allocated as a mechanic to the newly formed Australian Flying Corps.

In March 1916, the AFC’s first complete flying unit, No. 1 Squadron, departed Australia bound for the Middle East and the fighting in the Mesopotamian campaign. This pitted them against Turkish forces of the Ottoman Empire, although they were inadequately equipped with three badly outdated and barely serviceable aircraft provided by the Indian government – two Maurice Farman Shorthorns and a Maurice Farman Longhorn.

Eventually assigned to a posting in England, Treacy embarked on HMAT Orsova (A67) on 6 December 1916 and on arrival in Plymouth was first attached to the Royal Flying Corps and their mobile workshop as a 2nd Class Air Mechanic. Three months later, having thoroughly familiarised himself by working on various aircraft types, he decided to apply to train as a pilot. Having heard there was a critical shortage that needed to be filled, he wanted to join the action. He was transferred to the Cadet School at Reading, where he received his elementary training, then to No. 66 Squadron Training School at Yatesbury, Wiltshire. There he trained in B.E.2e two-seat biplanes and the Airco DH.6 before switching to R.E.8s – his future squadron’s general-purpose aircraft. After flying these training machines for less time than he would have liked, he qualified for his pilot’s certificate in November 1917, following which he was presented with his RFC pilot’s wings, a log book and a hurried posting to France, with the Australian No. 3 Squadron, AFC.

When he joined the squadron his training was quite minimal – but certainly not unusual at that stage of the war, when eager but raw young pilots were being rushed into action – and he only had a paltry 10 hours’ flying time in his log book. ‘I was very green,’ he admitted, ‘although very keen and enthusiastic. At this time our losses were heavy because the German machines were so superior to ours – much more manoeuvrable and better equipped.’ The squadron had been issued with the Royal Aircraft Factory’s R.E.8 two-seat aircraft and with the Germans pushing hard towards Amiens, the pilots’ main task involved reconnaissance missions over enemy territory, searching for and mapping artillery nests, taking ground photographs, and occasionally dropping small bombs by hand.

All too soon, 2nd Lieutenant Jack Treacy was made aware of the appalling casualty rate for British and Allied pilots on the Western Front – especially among the young and inexperienced, where life expectancy hovered at around five weeks. He carried out his first combat patrol on 20 February 1918, together with Lieutenant Otto Suess as his aerial gunner/observer. The 90-minute flight went without incident, Treacy later recording in his log book that they had fired 50 rounds into the enemy lines. By now he had also come to realise that the R.E.8 he was flying was a lumbering, undesirable beast, difficult to fly and long considered a ‘sitting duck’ for the more nimble, far superior German aircraft during aerial combat. The planes also had a tendency to burst into flames much too easily when hit.

Despite this, he took it all in his stride and quickly formed a solid working team with his observer. ‘Although termed “observer”, the second member of the R.E.8 team was a rear gunner,’ Treacy pointed out. ‘It was the pilot who did the actual observing and signalling. Your aerial gunner is watching all the time for the enemy, and he lets you know if you are about to be attacked.’

On reconnaissance missions over enemy territory, photographs were taken with a camera mounted in the rear fuselage of the aircraft, behind and beneath the gunner’s seat. The camera, for oblique and map-making plates, was automatically driven and changed the plates itself. ‘All the pilot had to do was to count the time for exposure and overlap on his stop watch and press the button; the camera did the rest itself.’ The gunner would change the magazines in the camera on a signal from the pilot.

The R.E.8 was also equipped with a wireless set and the aerial for this had to be wound in and out on a reel. On one occasion Treacy recalled:


I was on the way back to our aerodrome at Bertangles when I saw many Diggers walking along a road and I thought that I would give them a cheer up and decided to fly down to within 50 feet (15 m) and wave to them, but I noticed that as we waved they were running out of the way off the road and we suddenly realised that we had forgotten to wind in the aerial and it was swinging along the road just over their heads!



Among the most feared of the enemy pilots patrolling the war zone was Baron Manfred von Richthofen, whose daring exploits and numerous kills had caused him to be nicknamed the Red Baron. The Jasta II fighter wing of brightly coloured aircraft and elite pilots he commanded was known and dreaded as Richthofen’s Flying Circus. His own very distinctive aircraft was a Fokker Dr.1 triplane painted bright red.

Jack Treacy never did encounter the Red Baron in the skies – at least not that he was aware of – but he had very quickly learned how to fly the R.E.8 to try and avoid being shot down in aerial combat. He explained:


The only way to fight with an R.E.8 was to go into a circle when attacked. You tip up on your side and put your engine full on and as soon as the fellow dived you pulled the stick back and made the circle tighter. The German can’t get inside and your man can stand and shoot. Never go into a spin because he can dive down the centre of the spin.



Unfortunately, No. 3 Squadron would not be allocated newer aircraft to replace the R.E.8 before the Armistice was signed later that year.

As the days and weeks passed, Treacy slowly built up his flying hours on bombing, reconnaissance and aerial photography missions, and though he was fired upon several times he managed to make it safely back to base on each occasion. As his proficiency and skill grew, so too did his knowledge of life-saving techniques, based on hard-won experience. Squadron records demonstrate more than one incident where quick thinking and subsequent actions saved both his life and that of his observer/gunner.

One of the tasks assigned to No. 3 Squadron was to be on the lookout for German battery positions and motor transport. Once spotted, they called up their own battery, who would direct fire at the given positions. Reconnaissance photos later showed the effectiveness or otherwise of the bombardment. During one flight over enemy lines, Treacy called back information on a German battery which he reported was firing from the vantage point of a local landmark called Warneton Tower:


The Germans used the tower for observer work when they were behind their own lines. It was near the little town of Albert. One of [the] shells from an 8-inch howitzer battery which I was directing fell right in a German gun pit and I could see the explosion. It lifted the gun right out of the pit. We didn’t know how many Germans were destroyed but there were fires and cordite burning everywhere.



Death was everywhere, day after deadly day, and one could not afford to be squeamish when confronted with it. He recalled:


On a day when General [Sir John] Monash made an attack, we were flying. My observer had not seen any large number of dead people in trenches and shell holes. I took him down low enough and he let out a squeal. Near the village of Vaire Wood there was a big cutting like a brick pit and they stacked the dead and wounded along the edge, packed up like tiers of wood.



By this time, Treacy had become one of the fortunate but very few ‘old hands’ still flying with the squadron, having survived that critical period of acquiring experience in the war-torn skies over France. By year’s end he had managed to amass a total of 60 hours in his log book, which today might not seem like much, but as a fighter pilot on the Western Front it was regarded as something close to a miracle.

Like most airmen involved in the war, and despite losing so many of his colleagues, Treacy always spoke of his respect for those on the other side. ‘The German airmen were more humane and decent than they were in the second war,’ he said. ‘There was a tremendous esprit de corps among the early type of German airmen and he would give you a good fight for it. They were brave enough and good airmen.’



It was often felt better to conceal some less-pleasant things from family members back home and in a letter Treacy sent on 12 March 1918, he told his mother that his younger brother Jim (James Edward), a private in the AIF’s Light Trench Battery, was looking to join him in the Australian Flying Corps. He wrote that Jim:


has been here at the aerodrome for a few days, and I managed to get him through his test. Think he will be located at the same aerodrome as myself. He has gone in as a mechanic. Knew he would be all right when I got him in France. He is going away on 14 days’ leave in England.



What he did not reveal to his parents was the sad fact that his brother, while serving in the infantry in France, had been the victim of gassing by the Germans which was so severe that he had to be invalided to England for treatment. There he suffered a severe pneumonic attack, but had apparently recovered.

In another letter that Jim himself sent home from London, he told his mother:


I am now on 14 days’ leave from France, and I was very pleased to get it, considering all I went through. I put in 13 months in France before I got any leave, and I can tell you I’ve been through the mill. Have been in four air raids on London. It was most exciting. When the alarm was given the people momentarily hesitated in the streets, then rushed off to the Tubes for shelter. It was dreadful for the women and children, and I pitied them.

Met dear old Jack [his brother] in France before I came away on leave, and was ever so pleased to see him. He showed me all round his aerodrome, and explained everything to me. It was most interesting and instructive. Jack is some lieutenant, and is a very good man in a flying machine. He can do anything in the air with his plane, and his observer has great confidence in him. My word he is getting on in the world. I was going to fly with him, but the weather was very bad and the air trip did not come off.

I am writing this letter in King George’s Hospital. Got a chill while on leave, and had to come here about 10 days ago. I don’t know what complaint I’m suffering from, but it took hold of me very suddenly. Don’t worry; I’ll soon be alright.



Following the signing of the Armistice, Jim Treacy returned to the family home in Grahamstown and was married in 1920. However, he still bore the internal scars of the gassing, exacerbated by a prolonged attack of influenza. Six years after returning home he finally succumbed to his lengthy illnesses on 18 May 1926, aged 29, leaving his wife Dora a young widow.



During one reconnaissance mission, Treacy said he had to work hard to prevent being killed along with his observer when the aircraft they were in suddenly caught fire through a mechanical failure – any airman’s worst fear. Fortunately they survived this ordeal, but another squadron team later flying the same R.E.8 aircraft were not as lucky, as he recalled:


I had two R.E.8s, one nearly to the end of the war. One day I was over the lines and it gave me a bit of trouble and so, while it was being repaired I was loaned another. While over the lines it began to backfire and cough as if it had water in the petrol tank, then it burst into flames under the bonnet over the carburettor. The carburettor on these machines would be approximately 18 inches high by 10 inches [45 x 25 cm] in diameter and it blazed up about the size of a four-gallon bucket, and was getting larger when I turned off the petrol at the tank and opened up the throttle and the fire went out. I glided down 7,000 feet [2,100 m] and landed at Bailleul aerodrome which was situated close to the lines.

This particular machine was kept in the squadron instead of being got rid of, and it later [12 April 1918] burned to death Lieutenant George Best, the pilot and Lieutenant Lewis, his gunner whilst they were on a photographic mission from our Poulainville aerodrome. Lewis was two weeks off home establishment leave and Lieutenant Best had recently joined the Squadron. It happened near a village in France called Villers-Bocage [just north of Poulainville]. It was a sad sight. I was sent down to the Abbeville Hospital to identify the bodies and the only way I could do so was the fact I knew them so well. Lewis was a tall man and Best was short and stocky. They were burned so badly their features were unrecognisable.

After my accident with it, the machine should have been put into the squadron workshop and the engine taken out and thoroughly examined. After the fatal fire, it was examined and it was found that the engine had a twisted cam shaft. There was no reason for keeping it in the squadron as at the time we had a full complement of aircraft.





On 21 April 1918, the greatest German ace of the First World War, a man known throughout the Western Front as the Red Baron, fought his last duel in the skies over France. On that day, two R.E.8 aircraft from Treacy’s No. 3 Squadron were on a photo reconnaissance mission of frontline enemy activities some 7,000 feet (2,100 m) over Hamel on the Somme River, 10 miles (16 km) east of their open airfield base when they were spotted by German observers who alerted members of Richthofen’s Jasta II group at their base near Cappy.

A short while later, four brightly coloured Fokker Dr.1 triplanes dived to intercept the British aircraft, but the pilots managed to perform a slow-wheeling defensive move. Then, turning disadvantage into attack, they began to open fire on the German aircraft, even managing to shoot one down before the pilots of the other three Fokkers decided to break away from the engagement.

However, Richthofen’s formation had flown further west than they had realised and now found themselves over British positions. The ground artillery began firing at them and the ensuing puffs of anti-aircraft fire attracted a group of eight Sopwith Camels led by Canadian pilot Roy Brown of the 209th Squadron, RAF.

As the aerial skirmish began, Captain Brown was desperately trying to save the life of a novice flyer and fellow Canadian, 2nd Lieutenant Wilfred May – whom he knew from school in Edmonton. Brown had earlier warned his friend not to attempt to engage any enemy aircraft on what was his first combat flight. May’s orders were to fly back to base if attacked. But he couldn’t help himself and did not realise he was about to take on the most deadly of all enemies – the notorious Red Baron. Ignoring Brown’s words of caution, May joined the dogfight over the Somme River and managed to hit one Fokker, but not fatally, causing the pilot to flee back to base. Encouraged by this, May remained in the melee, only to have his guns jam as an all-red Fokker triplane closed in from behind, when he peeled off to return to base.

Twenty-five-year-old Richthofen was eager to add to his kill tally of 80 aircraft, but in doing so he broke one of his own cardinal rules – concentrating for too long on downing a single aircraft. They were flying west, with the Fokker Dr.1 right on May’s tail at treetop level, roaring along the north side of the Somme River, parallel to Morlancourt Ridge. Brown saw this and reacted immediately. He later said he dived down from 3,000 feet (900 m) to around 300 feet hoping to save his vulnerable friend and began firing a sustained burst at the German aircraft. At this point, believing he might have hit the enemy aircraft and dangerously low on fuel and ammunition, Brown headed back to base. Undaunted, the Red Baron flew relentlessly, slowly closing in on May’s fleeing aircraft and preparing for the kill.

Meanwhile, two Australian gunners from the 53rd Battery of the 14th Australian Field Brigade (AFB) were positioned about 200 metres apart atop the high ridge, manning pole-mounted Lewis ack-ack guns fitted with new sights specifically designed to bring down enemy aircraft. Gunner Robert Buie was operating the Lewis gun on the right, facing the two oncoming aircraft, while Gunner William Evans was on the left gun. As soon as May’s Sopwith aircraft had passed overhead and was no longer shielding his dogged pursuer, the order was given to open fire on the low-flying Fokker, which Buie later said was around 100 metres away, with the enemy pilot shooting at May’s aircraft. ‘I could not have missed it,’ Buie later stated, ‘it was so close!’

As the two gunners fired, the German’s guns suddenly fell silent. He was passing by so close that Buie saw the pilot’s head jerk sharply backward and heard a change in the sound of his engine as the Fokker slowed down. As they watched, the red triplane veered to the left and then right before it heeled over, came down and crash-landed close to the chimney of a brickworks on the road from Corbie to Bray, near Sailly-le-Sac, 13 miles (21 km) east of Amiens and around 8 miles (13 km) from No. 3 Squadron’s airfield at Poulainville.

Amazingly, Richthofen’s aircraft did not suffer any substantial damage when it hit the ground, which led to some later speculation that he might still have been alive, although given the extent of his wounds that seems highly improbable. Shortly after it crashed, a number of Australian troops tried to rush over to collect a souvenir, but found themselves under heavy shell fire from enemy guns and were ordered back.

As No. 3 was the designated salvage squadron, their equipment officer, Lieutenant Walter Warneford, was ordered to recover the body of the Red Baron and his colourful triplane and transport them back to the airfield. According to the official squadron records, a party of about 10 officers and airmen set out that morning for the crash site in a pair of Crossley tenders. When darkness fell they drove to where the wreckage was located, in the no man’s land between the Allied and enemy lines.

The salvage party was led by Lieutenant James (Lee) Smith, DFC, who later reported in his written statement:


My party reached Richthofen’s plane in the dusk of 21st. By then the area was being shelled by the Germans. I sent one of the men, I think named Collins, crawling out with a hook attached to a steel hawser and this he fastened to the plane. He returned and we hooked it up to the Crossley Tender and dragged the kite into our keeping. We removed the body and laid it out in the tender.





Air Mechanic Colin C. Collins was later awarded the Military Medal for his bravery under fire in this recovery.

Word quickly spread as the wreckage was dragged back and the troops, knowing the identity of the enemy pilot, eagerly began to strip souvenir parts and pieces of cloth from the bright red plane.



In its issue of 20 December 1956, the editor of the Australian Post magazine (now long defunct) received a letter in response to an article in an earlier edition which had examined the contentious question of who had shot down Germany’s Red Baron. The letter was from a Robert Buie of Calga (near Gosford) in New South Wales, stating that he was the person actually responsible for shooting down Richthofen, and not the Canadian pilot Roy Brown. According to Buie:


At 10.45 am on April 21, 1918, near Villers-Bretonneux, a squadron of our planes was intercepted by the Richthofen Circus. Two planes were shot down and a third corkscrewed from the melee and fell towards the ground.

Suddenly, however, the plane flattened out and made for home over our lines. A German plane gave chase and was gaining rapidly on our plane, firing short bursts all the time. They were both flying at a very low level and were the only two planes in the vicinity.

I belonged to the 53rd Battery and we had two Lewis anti-aircraft guns. I was managing one gun at the time and Digger [William John] Evans the other. As the planes neared us, Evans opened fire but the German plane came on. I could not fire at the same time as I did not have a clearance. But as soon as our plane was out of the line of fire I started firing at the pilot of the German plane directly through my peep sight.

Fragments flew from the plane, it lessened speed and came down a few hundred yards away. When the plane was reached Richthofen was dead. This was on the left of Corbie on the ridge overlooking the Somme.

Richthofen’s plane did not come to earth in a heap as some suggest; it came down as if he was bringing it down, although on landing the wings and fuselage were damaged fairly badly. We had Richthofen’s body on a stretcher at the Battery when Captain A.R. Brown of the Royal Flying Corps came to try and claim the shooting down, but his claim was ruled out.

There were quite a few who tried to claim shooting him down. All claims and evidence went to British Army Headquarters in France and one month later, while I was still in the line, a dispatch came from General [Sir Henry] Rawlinson to the 53rd Battery and me. It gave me credit for the shooting down of the German ace. I have the proof in my possession and I cannot think why the controversy goes on.



Lieutenant Walter Warneford of the 3rd Squadron, AFC, agreed that Brown did not fire the fatal bullets. He later recalled:


At the time Richthofen was brought down, I was attached to the 3rd Australian Flying Squadron. Under instructions from Major [David] Blake I went to the spot where the German officer crashed with instructions to salvage the machine and to recover Richthofen’s body. It was taken to the aerodrome at Poulainville, and was examined by the Army Corps doctors, including two French medical officers, and they all concluded that Richthofen had been shot at an oblique angle through the left shoulder, the shot coming out of his chest. There was only one wound in the German airman’s body. The description of the wound and all the other evidence made it clear that Richthofen had been brought down from the ground.



There were two official examinations carried out on Richthofen’s body. Major General George Barber, later director-general of medical services to the Commonwealth Military Forces and the RAAF, was one of those who personally examined Richthofen’s body and reached the conclusion that the German ace had been killed by a single shot from the ground. He said some reports stating that the body was ‘riddled with bullets’ were absolutely incorrect.

The autopsies concluded that a single bullet (never found) had entered the right side of his chest, ricocheted off his spine and exited 2 inches [5 cm] higher on the left side of his chest, indicating that the bullet came from the right and slightly to the front of Richthofen, which meant that it was fired upward and not from above or behind.

Jack Treacy said he had no evidence on the identity of the person who fired the fatal shot, but he was adamant that it was not Roy Brown in his Sopwith Camel. Witnesses agreed that when Brown ceased firing at the Fokker, Richthofen flew on for another couple of miles, which, given the extent of the mortal wound, would have proved impossible. Treacy insisted:


It was definitely a machine-gunner on the ground. From the position of the bullet that entered and then exited the Baron’s body, there is no way it came from Brown’s aircraft. I think it is likely that the machine-gunner was a chap called Robert Buie of the Australian Field Artillery’s 53rd Battery. However there were a number of others it might have been. Everyone around claimed him except for the WAACs [Women’s Army Air Corps] and the Chinese Labour Battalion!



In compiling his official history of the Australian Flying Corps, journalist and military historian F.M. Cutlack stated that:


Captain A.R. Brown, of 209 Squadron, claims to have shot down Richthofen and undoubtedly he followed him down for some distance firing at Richthofen while Richthofen fired at the Camel. It is equally certain that when Richthofen passed over the Australian bivouacs there were only two machines in the picture – the Camel fleeing and Richthofen following and firing.

There is abundant evidence that these two machines were the only ones near the scene of the shooting and this testimony makes it seem irrefutable that he was shot down by machine gunners on the ground.



In fact, the unassuming Roy Brown never did claim to have shot Richthofen down. In his combat report he simply described his air battle with the German aircraft as ‘indecisive’. But his commanding officer would have none of that and changed the word to ‘decisive’, officially crediting Brown with the kill – something he would always deny for the rest of his life. He died of a heart attack in 1944, aged just 50.

Jack Treacy was quite pragmatic when speaking about Richthofen, saying that the man may well have been famed for his 80 aerial victories, but:


I don’t know why he’s singled out and called a legend. We had some very good pilots flying on our side as well. There was the Jim McCudden from the RFC [Royal Flying Corps] for instance; he downed 57 German planes and earned himself the VC [Victoria Cross] before he was killed in a non-combat crash in his plane. Frenchman René Fonck had 75 victories, while another Frenchman, Georges Guynemer, knocked down 57 enemy aircraft. There were others: Billy Bishop and Mick Mannock, for instance. But who does everyone remember these days? Only Richthofen.



On the day the autopsy was to be carried out, Richthofen’s body was moved into a tent hangar at No. 3 Squadron’s base in Poulainville, where Jack Treacy’s R.E.8 would normally have been. The body was laid out on a sheet of galvanised iron and the official photographer took some photographs. Treacy was one of those present and had his pocket camera with him. Before he and the squadron photographer, Sergeant John Alexander, took their pictures, Treacy helped prop the body up, supporting it against the wall of the canvas hangar. He then suggested that some of the Red Baron’s more battered facial features be touched up, so they would not look quite so horrific. This he did with a little baking powder – evidence of which can be seen on the German’s lapels in photographs taken that day in the hangar.

The next afternoon, 22 April, Treacy and five fellow AFC pilots were recruited to act as pallbearers for Richthofen’s funeral at Bertangles. Joining him that day were Lieutenant Frank Jelly Mart from South Australia, Lieutenant George Pickering (Queensland) and three Victorian pilots, Lieutenant Malcolm Sheehan, Captain Thomas Leigh Simpson, DFC, and Captain John Robertson Duigan, MC (a cousin of Simpson’s, who had achieved Australian aviation fame back in 1910 when he designed, built and flew the first Australian-made aircraft). The officiating padre at the funeral was Reverend George H. Marshall, DSO.

As they were lowering the coffin into the grave, Treacy was horrified to feel the ground at the lip of the grave begin to crumble beneath him and he pitched forward towards the hole. One of his fellow officers managed to grasp his upper arm and haul him back onto solid ground before he disappeared into Richthofen’s grave. Since that day, he often described himself as ‘the man who nearly joined the Red Baron in his grave’.

Twelve soldiers fired three volleys into the air and an inscribed plate (later stolen) was placed at the head of the grave, mounted on a cross made from a four-bladed propeller. It read: ‘Cavalry Captain Manfred Baron von Richthofen – age 22 years [he was, in fact, 25]. Killed in action, aerial combat, near Sailly-Le-Sec, Somme, France. 21st April, 1918.’

Richthofen’s well-attended, almost ceremonial funeral at Bertangles was a mark of respect for a well-known warrior. Sending his body to Germany in the midst of the conflict would have been logistically difficult, so like other combatants he was buried where he fell. After the war, his body was exhumed by French authorities and moved to a war cemetery devoted to German dead at nearby Fricourt. It would not be his final resting place, however; in 1925 his brother Bolko organised for the body to be taken to Germany, where the Red Baron was reburied in a cemetery alongside other German war heroes. Later, a large memorial was constructed over his grave, but this was badly damaged during the Second World War. In 1975, nearly six decades after his death, Richthofen’s remains were removed once again and placed in the family tomb at Wiesbaden, Germany.



On 6 May 1918, around 3 kilometres west of Morlancourt Ridge, Treacy witnessed an Australian R.E. 8 crew of two perish when five German Fokkers intercepted Henry Ralfe’s aircraft and ganged up to shoot it down. As he told me:


Captain Henry Ralfe was patrolling the sector adjoining me and there was a low mist at about 3,000 feet [900 m] and thin. I could see Ralfe in his sector doing his work. Then I saw a bunch of Huns above the mist – they wouldn’t attack you under the mist for although slow the R.E.8 was pretty hot stuff and would fight off two or three of them [Germans] sometimes. But they broke through the mist and Ralfe was attacked by five German machines over Morlancourt Ridge.



The canvas-covered R.E.8 burst into flames and Ralfe, who may have been dead or badly injured, was seen to remain in his pilot’s seat. Then, to his horror, Treacy witnessed the plane’s observer, Lieutenant William Buckland, clamber out of his seat and leap to his death as the blazing aircraft dived into the ground. There were no parachutes available to airmen back then; in addition to their sheer bulkiness there were so many struts and wires on the aircraft they would have been useless. Many doomed airmen therefore chose a quick end rather than the agony of being burned to death. ‘The machine went down in flames,’ Treacy recalled, ‘and buried itself 15 feet [14.5 m] in the soft ground of the Somme.’

Just after dawn on 6 June 1918, Treacy and his newly assigned observer, Lieutenant N.H. Jones, were on a reconnaissance mission to locate and report on a German battery thought to be some 3 kilometres east of Dernancourt, when they were unexpectedly attacked from above by the pilot of a German Albatros Scout. Treacy immediately threw their R.E.8 into preventative manoeuvres as Jones opened fire with his Lewis gun. ‘The Albatros was well streamlined and they could dive very fast,’ Treacy recalled, believing they were about to be shot down. At times he could see their attacker in front and opened up with his forward-facing Vickers gun, to no effect. Then, incredibly, it was all over. Unable to stay behind Treacy’s desperate tight turns and being fired upon by both guns, the German decided he’d had enough, suddenly broke off the engagement and vanished into the sky. ‘We were quite amazed,’ Treacy recalled. ‘If he’d hung around a bit longer he would have worked out how to overcome my desperation tactics and would in all probability have shot us down!’

Treacy said there was one unusual and far happier occasion the following month. On 9 June, Captain Roderick Armstrong and his observer Frank Jelly Mart from No. 3 Squadron were on a morning reconnaissance flight in their R.E.8 when they spotted a Halberstadt D.II two-seater biplane heading low for their lines. As they moved in on the enemy aircraft they noticed the pilot suddenly lifting his arms in the air as if in surrender, so Armstrong pointed him towards No. 3 Squadron’s Flesselles airfield while keeping a close watch for any tricks. However the German pilot flew with him and set down on the grass strip, where the two men, Gefreiter Hausler and Vizefeldwebel Mullenbach and their aircraft were taken into custody by some bemused pilots. As Treacy recalled it:


We took [the pilot] to the officer’s mess and shouted him a drink. He thought the guard was a firing squad and found it hard to believe that we were honouring him. He told us he had flown too low and found himself over our lines. He was really afraid to go back as he belonged to one of the observer squadrons of the German Air Force.



Post-war, the Halberstadt biplane was gifted to the Australian Government as a war trophy and placed on display at the Australian War Memorial in Canberra. Unfortunately it was destroyed in an accidental fire in February 1925.



A month before the war in Europe came to an end, Captain Jack Treacy found himself rested from frontline action, and departed No. 3 Squadron with a proud record. ‘My total war flying over the German lines was 264 hours on 110 sorties – some of them lasted over four and a half hours,’ he said, referring to his log books. ‘Total number of photographs taken 254, bombs dropped on German targets 340, aerial combats 15. The total rounds of machine-gun ammunition fired was 11,800.’

Posted back to England, Treacy was attached to the Central Despatch School of Pilots, serving as a ferry pilot flying different makes of aircraft from England to France. He was later employed by the British and Colonial Aeroplane Company, located at Filton, near Bristol, for the remaining weeks of the war. While there, he gained first-class knowledge of aircraft construction, design and engineering under the direct supervision of Captain Frank Barnwell, who had designed fighter aircraft that served in the latter part of the war, most notably the Bristol Scout. The knowledge Treacy gained under Barnwell would be of great benefit to him when he finally returned home.

In another letter to his mother around this time he said he had been recommended for the Distinguished Flying Cross (DFC) and ‘am expecting it shortly’. He must have been misinformed, however, as the decoration was never awarded.

However he did join in the wild celebrations when the Armistice was signed between Germany and the Allies on 11 November 1918, when the guns on the Western Front fell silent after more than four years of savage fighting and the loss of millions of lives.

While working in Bristol, Treacy had met and fallen for Eva Rosina Alexander from Ascot, Berkshire. Following a whirlwind romance, they were married in Windsor on 11 June 1919. He would bring his new bride to Australia that December.

After returning home aboard the SS Wahehe and introducing his new wife to his family, Treacy began looking for work in the aviation industry. He was up against a massive influx of returning pilots, all seeking jobs in the RAAF or airline industry to make a living out of the flying skills they had acquired during the war. However it was not long before he secured employment with the Australian Aircraft and Engineering Company, which had been founded in Sydney in 1919 by Nigel Love, Walter Warneford (also from No. 3 Squadron, AFC) and Harry Broadsmith, chief designer for aircraft manufacturers A. V. Roe & Co. With a start-up capital of £50,000, their intention was to manufacture aircraft in Australia.

On 9 January 1920, they began flying operations out of Sydney (Mascot) Airport following the delivery by sea of 20 Avro 504K aircraft. Treacy operated their aircraft on delivery flights when required, but the ‘big bikkies’ in those days was in providing joy rides for a nation of people swept up in the thrills of aviation, and he piloted hundreds of such flights.

On one occasion, Treacy delivered one of his company’s Avro 504K aircraft from Mascot to Richmond in North Queensland, and his 1,800 mile (2,900 km) flight made headlines, creating a long-distance record for the delivery flight of a civil aircraft.

Later, Jack fondly remembered that his daughter Patricia Eva Treacy held the world record for the number of hours she had flown for her age (two years old):


She and her mother used to fly regularly with me. I was doing a lot of advertising at the time for Fox Films. We flew all over New South Wales when there were no aerodromes, only paddocks, and the paddocks had to be fairly big to let the machine land. When we used to land, near a town, the oil companies used to come out and drive us into town. On one occasion I was looping the loop over Eagle Farm and there was a great crowd of people. My baby daughter was up with me, strapped in the cockpit. A cushion fell out and the crowd thought it was my daughter!



The aircraft he now flew was a ‘Baby Avro’, previously owned by aviation pioneer and record-breaker Bert Hinkler, which had earlier crashed at Turin in Italy before being fully restored and delivered to Australia.

At this period of his flying career, working for Fox Films, Treacy quickly became known as Australia’s ‘Flying Picture Show Man’. In the 1920s, most towns had erected a temporary cinema of sorts – sometimes nothing more than a large tin shed with canvas seats – and the townsfolk clamoured to watch films that transported them for a brief time to see places and events they could hardly comprehend existed outside of their world. Every day, Treacy criss-crossed from New South Wales to Queensland, landing and taking off at several towns, delivering and picking up the precious tins of film. As there were no established aerodromes, he had to land on roads, racecourses and paddocks. He recalled touching down several times on the racecourse at Grafton, in northern New South Wales:


I needed 400 yards to get off the ground and I had to allow for the height of trees and the direction of the wind. There were no windsocks, and I used to watch washing flapping on lines, ripples on water surfaces, and smoke from a fire or chimneys to know the direction of the wind.



I asked Treacy if he’d had any association back then with the fledgling airline Qantas, which was founded in November 1920, and he replied:


No, not really, but I did have one run-in back in the early 1920s. For some reason I found I had to put down on the strip at Longreach, and this Qantas fellow came running over and shouted, ‘You can’t bloody-well land here!’ So I shouted back, ‘Well, I bloody-well have!’ After that we got on really well and I was afforded what hospitalities were available.



He did, of course, have the earliest experiences of Australian airports and remembered that:


There was at the time a landing strip at Archerfield in Brisbane, but it was not an ideal site. The ’drome sloped away and you were either taking off uphill or downhill. There were a lot of chicken farms around it, and one farmer in particular was irate at all the noise. He swore it put his hens off laying. He used to get a gun out and take pot-shots at aircraft flying over his property!



One day in 1921, he happened to land on a dairy farm owned by a man named Wilson at Eagle Farm. He was impressed by what he saw and reported its suitability as a potential landing site to the newly established Civil Aviation Authority. He thus became the first pilot to land on the area now housing Brisbane Airport.

Once the Civil Aviation Department was more established they began requiring all pilots to register and undergo testing in order to be officially licensed. Treacy was issued by the CAD with Commercial Pilot’s Licence No. 23 and aircraft engineer’s licence No. 100.

In 1922, he often toured Queensland and New South Wales selling joy rides. On one occasion he gave a ride to Queensland grazier Frank Paltridge, who reminisced about his first ride in an aeroplane for the Balonne Beacon newspaper in March 1960. Here is part of what he wrote:


I thumbed a ride with Jack – St George to Sydney – in what I believe was the first ever flight over this route. There was a spare seat and no takers. Jack was to pick me up at Talwood and I arranged to travel by coach and train to the rendezvous. There I made the intimate acquaintance with the machine in which he had flown so many thousands of miles.

Jack was a vintage pilot of World War I, but I never heard him speak of it. Now pioneering civil aviation at a time when there were probably not more than three aerodromes in Australia – no meticulously careful Department of Civil Aviation (DCA), no radio, no landing grounds, no funds and no danger of collision with other aircraft. Jack wended his way through the country trying to sell flying.

The machine was an Avro 504K looking like a larger version of a Tiger Moth, top wings staggered at a rakish angle, no flaps, no brakes, no gimmicks, a Sunbeam engine of a stupendous 100 hp and a car type radiator with a hole in the centre for the prop to stick through. Surprisingly enough I was to share the passenger seat with a charming lady – at any rate I offered the charming lady the seat and contented myself with sitting on top of the suitcases between her and the pilot up front. The ports may have been strapped in – I wasn’t.

From a paddock two miles on the Nindigully side of Talwood alongside the main road we roared off into the blue. The weather was kind, not once during our trip did it threaten us seriously. In what seemed a twinkling of our 80 mph [130 km/h] more or less, we were at Thallon. Where to land? Well that paddock near the road north of the railway looked good. We made it and spent some time selling flights to local residents. An early start next day for Collarenebri, with a landing at Goondibluie Station en route was the flight plan. There was said to be a fair claypan there. Made a nice touchdown and, after morning tea at the homestead, Jack took some of the station people for a flip. No need to stop the motor, it got cranky to start when hot. I hurried the charming lady aboard and the not so charming ports, and off we went out over the scrub and prickly pear.
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